# RECEIVED

10-10-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No.16-AP-2209-CR

DARRICK L. BENNETT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID BOROWSKI AND JOSEPH M. DONALD, RESPECTIVELY PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

GARY GRASS State Bar No. 1035738

2132 N. 33<sup>rd</sup> St. Milwaukee, WI 53208 Telephone (414) 447-8369

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

#### Ι

Was Bennett entitled to a postconviction hearing to address his claims that his plea was was not voluntarily or intelligently given, or that he was denied effective assistance of counsel at the plea hearing because he was persuaded by counsel that the facts as he understood them afforded him no defense, when in fact he had a valid defense? (And if not, did the court properly exercise its discretion in denying such a hearing?)

The trial court answered NO, Bennett was not entitled to a hearing. (It did not answer the follow-up question.)

#### Π

Was Bennett entitled to a hearing to determine whether his sentence should be modified where the court relied on an exaggerated understanding of the offense conduct, falsely indicating prolonged beating, imaginary cuts and other injuries, a stereotyped version of the aggressor-victim dynamic that omitted victim's extensive history of criminality and violence, and inaccurate speculation as to the effect of the crime on the victim on nonexistent or estranged family members; and where the court rejected or ignored valid mitigators such as defendant's acting in the heat of passion, and in imperfect self-defense, and taking steps to avoid conflict, and his service to family and community, his age, and deterrent collateral harms he already suffered? (And if not, did the court properly exercise its discretion in denying such a hearing?)

The trial court answered NO, Bennett was not entitled to a hearing. (It did not answer the follow-up question.)

#### III

Was entitled Bennett to postconviction discovery, public assistance in hiring an expert, or a hearing on such matters, where he presented preliminary evidence that the victim's medical records would disclose prior injury predisposing her to an easily-triggered death unforeseeable to the defendant, or supporting Defendant's contention that she was aggressive and had a short life-expectancy contrary to facts relied on by the court? (And if not, did the court properly exercise its discretion in denying such a hearing?)

The trial court answered NO, Bennett was not entitled to a hearing. (It did not answer the follow-up question.)

#### STATEMENT ON ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Argument can be provided if the court deems that it would be useful; Defendant is content to stand on the record. Publication of issue II is warranted because, although it does not propose any creative extension of the law, the lower courts should be reminded that sentence modification serves a vital function and ought not face insurmountable burdens when a court's broad misperceptions of sentencing factors are brought to light.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns a death in a domestic abuse setting; Defendant admits the abuse but seeks to withdraw a plea for first degree reckless homicide, of which he is in fact innocent, the seeks a sentence modification. (R61.)

The son of a foundry supervisor and an executive secretary (R14:14[8]<sup>1</sup>), Defendant Darrick Bennett stayed out of trouble as a youth, (R14:11,14[5,8]) and completed high school, but later became (and remained) a drug addict (R14:17[11]), and ran up 11 criminal convictions, receiving a variety of fines, probations, and short prison terms (R14:11-12[5-6]). A stink of domestic abuse clung to three misdemeanor citations from 2003-2006. (R14:12[6]). When able, he helped his father and aunt, and volunteered with the Boys and Girls Clubs and Running Rebels. (R61:17[¶¶67-68].) Through most of 2009 and 2010, he was gainfully employed, but by September 2011, he was 40 years old, on public assistance, working odd jobs. (R1:1;R14:16-17[10-11].) He'd been living in an apartment in a two-story house near 60<sup>th</sup> and Congress with his two children aged about 5 and 7 (having permanent placement and shared custody with his former girlfriend of six years) and C.S. (R14:15-16[9-10];R61:17[¶65].)

Based on the use of initials, you can project this story does not end well for C. She was a survivor of physical and sexual abuse at an early age, who also became a drug addict and runaway, and suffered from PTSD and depression with psychotic features, which led to a series of hospitalizations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Designations inside brackets represent internal page numbers.

and suicide attempts. (R61:13,14[¶¶49,53].) Like Bennett, she developed a criminal record, shorter but more violent. (R61:13-15[¶¶50-52,55].) She was ordered to anger management and a batterers program because of a pattern of domestic abuse that included falsely imprisoning and beating her disabled mother, who ultimately had to escape and be hospitalized with injuries including a broken nasal bone. (R61:13-14[¶¶52,54].) In 2007, CHIPS took her son away and he was later adopted. (R61:14-15[¶55];R14:10[4].) Her records show a pattern of lying to the police, including fabricating a burglary. (R61:15[¶55].) Her agent noted her uncontrollable temper. (Id.) When she moved in with Bennett, she was fresh from Taycheedah. (See CCAP, State v. Santana, Milwaukee County No. 04-CF-748.)

In 2010, Bennett obtained a restraining order against C., noting that she had attacked him and threatened to make false allegations against him. (R61:15[¶56].): C. began sleeping with Bennett's cousin. On September 12, 2011, C. reportedly told a neighbor that Bennett had been "beating her a lot lately" (nothing in the record suggests the neighbor made any observations to back up that statement) and that if she were to die, that Bennett would have been responsible (R1:1-2.)

That night, she did die, and Bennett was arrested.

Bennett readily admitted to police that he discovered that night C. had been unfaithful to him with his cousin. (R1:2.) She kept approaching him and he batted her away, which developed into a one-sided physical fight with her, during which he grabbed her throat and threw her around. (R1:2.) This occurred around 8;30 in the evening. (R1:2.) He left to calm down, resting with his children in another room, then checked on her, at which point he thought she was faking a seizure. (R1:3.) (She had a documented seizure disorder which was not fully controlled by medication, R61:4[¶15],31[B2],37[C3];Appx.119. Within the prior month, she had suffered dizziness, vomiting and blurred vision. R72:14[2].)

He delivered his kids to their mother, Bennett's ex, around 3 a.m. (R1:3.) C. was by then unconscious, but not visibly distressed. (R1:3.) Bennett bought cocaine and immediately used it. (R1:3.) Sometime thereafter he found C. unresponsive. (R1:3.) He called 911 around 5:40 a.m. only after he realized that C. was dead and cold. (R1:3.) He also admitted that he knew he could not claim self defense. (R1:3.)

Bennett has attempted to make minor corrections or additions to this account but never varied from the essence of the confession.<sup>2</sup> He agrees that he criminally attacked C.

The police found the scene in reasonable order, with a spot of blood on one wall of the bedroom where C. died.<sup>3</sup> (R72:14[2].) The medical examiner found that she died as a result of the strangulation and head trauma.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For example, he did not originally tell police that at one point C. brandished a knife at him. (R61:13[¶57].) He knew this "drama" provided him no defense because he was not truly in peril. He also omitted his efforts to get his father to drive his children home, which he did not want to do while impaired. (R61:17[¶69].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> C.'s injuries included a bloody nose and abrasions that broke the skin. It is reasonably (but not conclusively) inferred that the blood came from one of these injuries. The record did not indicate blood throughout the room, or in other rooms, damaged items or disturbed furniture such as to suggest a protracted conflict.

(R72:1;R61:44[D6]). The head trauma in particular resulted in subdural and subarachnoid hæmorrhages. (R72:3[1],18;R61:47[D9]). A private expert explained that the subdural component caused her death.  $(R72:21[\P6])$ . Essentially, broken blood vessels bled into her cranium, causing pressure to build on the brain until it stopped all flow of blood to the brain.<sup>4</sup> She suffered enuresis, vomiting, and eventual unconsciousness. (R61:4[¶17];Appx.119;R72:14[2].) Left without medical attention, the hæmorrhage was fatal. Apart from this, C. suffered abrasions and contusions but no broken bones ruptured organs or other great bodily harm. (R72:3,4,6,7,10[1,2,4,5,9]; R61:47,48,50,51,54[D9,10,12,13,16]).

Bennett, despite his confession, insisted from the outset that this "wasn't supposed to happen". (R1:3.) The presentencing interviewer believed that Bennett was "Extremely saddened by the victim's death" and that "Mr. Bennett cannot believe that he played a role in the death of Ms. S[]." (R14:10[4]; *see also* R39:17-18,20-21.)

For the first seven months of the case, it proceeded with the only significant events being the withdrawal of two of Defendant's attorneys (R5; R30; R33.) At all significant stages after the initial plea, Bennett's lawyer was Scott Anderson. (R34:1; R38:1; R39:1.) Anderson's disciplinary history included numerous citations for failing his criminal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Dmitri Agmanolis, NEUROPATHOLOGY [online medical course], at http://neuropathology-web.org/chapter4/chapter4aSubdur-(explaining alepidural.html subdural bleeding); Medscape, "Subarachnoid Hemorrage" at http://emedicine.medscape. com/article/1164341-overview#a4 (explaining that high intracranial pressure negates blood pressure cutting off oxygen to the brain).

defendant clients. *OLR v. Anderson*, 2010 WI 39, ¶4 n.1, 324 Wis. 2d 627, 782 N.W.2d 100.

The state sought permission to use two 2010 misdemeanor domestic battery charges against Bennett as other acts evidence, and after briefing and argument, the court agreed. (R6; R9; R36.)<sup>5</sup> Bennett's last convictions had been in 2006 (90 days with Huber) and 2008 (a fine); some earlier offenses had been noted as domestic abuse-related; his longest prior confinement had been 30 months. (R14:11-12[5-6].)

From the outset Bennett was consumed with presenting a defense based on causation. (R72:20[¶2].) Anderson therefore asked an expert to reexamine the coroner's conclusions that Bennett had caused C.'s death. (R72:20-21[¶¶3,7].) When this was unavailing, he told Bennett he had no defense and effectively no choice but to take a plea. (R72:21[¶8]; R61:6[¶23];Appx.121.) Likewise, Anderson told the court that the case was never anticipated to ever be tried, and the plea was necessary because his export would not exculpate Bennett as the cause of death. (R39:20,22.) Bennett acquiesced. (R61:6[¶25];;Appx.121.)

A PSI was ordered. (R13.) At sentencing, the court relied on a combination of reliable facts, and what, without

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> C's medical history also included serious injuries in Spring 2011, including broken ribs and a ruptured lung, attributed to a seizure, and later less serious injuries attributed to a fall. (R72:14[2].) The court did not have or rely on this information at sentencing, and while they may appear suspicious, Bennett has not been accused of causing those injuries, which is why his response is not on the record.

attempting to color the facts, appear to be exaggeration, speculation and stereotypes. For example, the court gave hyperbolic descriptions of the victim's supposed deep cuts and "smashed' eye, that were at odds with the autopsy report. (*Compare* R39:27 *with* R724[2];R61:48[D10].) He opined on how C.'s death would emotionally impact her parents, who in fact had both predeceased her. (*Compare* R39:38 *with* R61:16[¶62],42[D4];Appx.131.) He also referred to the case as a "classic case...of domestic violence" speculating that C. lacked the "wherewithal to cooperate" with previous prosecutions of Bennett, and he might otherwise have been found guilty of prior domestic violence. (R39:27,29.)

The court sentenced Bennett to 45 years imprisonment (35 years initial confinement plus 10 years extended supervision). (R21:1;R39:39-40.)

Bennett's first appellate counsel found no merit for an appeal, but was unable to obtain the Court of Appeals' acceptance of a final no-merit report. (R25; R41; R44.)

Bennett filed a postconviction motion (R61) in which he sought to withdraw his plea, or in the alternative, reduce his sentence.

He contended, first, that his plea was not voluntary or intelligent and that his attorney was ineffective in advising the plea. (R61:2-8.) He contended that contrary to the advice he received, he could have pled not guilty, and potentially won, because some of the elements of the offense were not present. (R61:5-6[¶¶22-23].) Bennett has continuously contended that Santana's death was a shocking, unforeseen outcome from what he considered a relatively restrained use of physical

force. (R61:4[¶14]; R1:3;R14:10[4].) As such it did not meet the standards of criminal recklessness required to convict him. (R61:3[¶13].)

Furthermore, C. had a longstanding seizure disorder, which could have accounted for most of her symptoms as she was dying. (R61:4[¶¶15-17].) Bennett knew of the disorder, but was not an expert. (R61:5[¶18].) Under those circumstances it was not necessarily reckless that he did not seek help in time.

He also asked for a modification of his sentence, pointing out an array of about twenty-five factors that had not been considered, or were considered wrongly, by the court. (R61:8-19.) He noted that many of these additions or corrections were available to have been raised at the time of sentencing, but were overlooked, and argued that his counsel's failure to identify and raise these factors was ineffective. (R61:19-20.)

To summarize these factors in groups:

 $\geq$ The court exaggerated the offense. embroidering an unsupported narrative where C. begged for mercy and was beaten for hours, suffering cuts, a smashed eye, and countless defensive wounds, then lingered for hours in agonizing pain. In fact, the encounter was brief and left large parts of her untouched. She was scratched and bruised, and she was prone to easy bruising. The court accused Bennett of minimizing the offense when in truth his account was the accurate one.  $(R61:9-12[\P 38-45])$ 

- $\triangleright$ The court portrayed Bennett as а stereotypical abuser and C. as a simple victim, when in fact, and unknown to the court, C. had a history of manipulating and abusing those weaker than her, and lying to police. She was a mentally unstable multisubstance abuser. She attacked Bennett and though that does not excuse his actions, it is a mitigator, since it entitled him by law to fight back, just not so hard. (R61:12-15[¶¶46-57].)
- C.'s infidelity was a mitigator, one of the longest recognized mitigators in Western jurisprudence. (R61:15[¶58].)
- C's drug use, mental illness, and history of lying to authorities (and her particular threat to falsely accuse Bennett) made her unconfontable accusations against Bennett unreliable. (R61:15,16[¶¶56,60].)
- The effects of the crime on C. and her family were exaggerated by the court; her life expectancy had been diminished by years of hard drug use, and her family members were mostly dead or in prison. Some had suffered violence at her hand. (R61:13-14,15,16[¶¶51, 52, 55, 61-62].)
- Bennett did some things right: he separated himself from C. while uncontrollably angry. He called a sober driver to take his kids when he was impaired. (R61:15-16,17[¶¶59,69].)
- Bennett had not faced severe punishment in the past that had failed to deter him; his record shows positive response to fairly

lenient past sentences. Here he suffered a huge collateral loss: that of his partner, however dysfunctional their relationship. The court's guess that he would continue to be dangerous past 60 flies in the face of general studies and Bennett's particular facts. (R61:18-19[¶¶71-73].)

➢ Bennett was not the pure-evil monster the court depicted. He had family support. He helped his family and volunteered for charities. Even his ex-wife, who accused him of abuse, said his violence was a singular aberration, not a character trait. Removing him from the community exacerbates a host of neighborhood ills caused by mass incarceration. (R61:16-18[¶¶64-68,70].)

To assist Bennett in supporting his contentions, he asked for postconviction discovery. (R60.) In particular, he asked for C.'s private medical records, which were off limits to counsel without a court order, pertaining to: (1) prior head injuries; (2) blood-thinning agents or conditions; (3) psychiatric conditions; (4) life expectancy; and (5) next-of-kin data and other potential aids to further investigation. (R60:3.)

In support of these requests, Bennett not only explained what he hoped to find that would be material, but why such records would be material, why he suspected the existence of such beneficial records, and why he had no alternative sources for the same information. (R60:5-6.) The court denied both the postconviction motion and discovery motion after briefing but without hearing or other action. (R79.) This appeal followed. (R82.)

#### ARGUMENT

### I. The Circuit Court should have conducted a hearing on Bennett's claims to withdraw his plea.

When Darrick Bennett was arrested, he freely confessed because he understood that he should have been convicted and sent to prison – but for domestic battery, not homicide. If you look at the law, it turns out he was right all along, even if a succession of lawyers have failed to get it. He was entitled to have his position tested at trial but gave up that right because of bad legal advice. This court cannot give him the correct conviction or even allow him to withdraw his plea. All it can do is open the door for him to receive a fair hearing on his claims, and this it must do.

#### A. Standard of Review and Other Applicable Standards

<u>1. Standard of Review; Hearing Requirement.</u> A defendant may seek to withdraw a plea because of an insufficient colloquy by the court, a "*Bangert* motion," or because of factors outside the record that rendered the plea invalid, a "*Nelson/Bentley* motion." *See State v. Howell*, 2007 WI 75, ¶74, referencing *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis.2d 489 (1972); *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303 (1996). Defendant's claim was of the *Nelson/Bentley* type. To obtain a hearing on such a motion, he was required only make allegations of "facts sufficient to entitle [him] to relief" *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis. 2d 568. If the allegations were not conclusory, and the record itself did not conclusively determine the outcome, a hearing was his right. *Id.* Otherwise, the court would have retained discretion to order one.

Hence this court uses a twofold standard. First, it must review the motion to determine whether it was sufficient to mandate a hearing. If not, then the court's denial of a hearing is reviewed for erroneous exercise of discretion.

<u>2. Plea Withdrawal.</u> After sentencing, a plea may be withdrawn where denying the withdrawal would work a manifest injustice. *State v. Booth*, 142 Wis. 2d 232, 235 (Ct. App. 1987). A showing that the plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered satisfies this standard. *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594. So does a showing of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Washington*, 176 Wis. 2d 205, 213-14 (Ct. App. 1993).

<u>3. Ineffective Assistance</u>, Ineffectiveness means Defendant suffered prejudice from some deficient action or omission of counsel. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127 (1990). Simple oversights, unsupported by strategic consideration, are deficient: the requisite level of performance requires deliberateness, caution, and circumspection. *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502 (1983). A single mistake may make the entire representation deficient. *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 496 (1986). Moreover, deficiencies should not be examined only piecemeal, but also for their aggregate prejudicial effect. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶59, 264 Wis. 2d 571.

Prejudice means there was a reasonable probability of a different result absent defense trial counsel's errors. *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, ¶49, 355 Wis.2d 180,; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Here "reasonable probability" does not mean "more likely than not." *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis.2d 525, 544 (1985); *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. A defendant fails to demonstrate prejudice if "it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Jenkins*, 2014 WI at ¶37.

# B. Bennett's plea was invalid because he didn't know he had a defense.

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