RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-12-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP2209-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DARRICK L. BENNETT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI AND JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The prosecutor responded that such an expert would not affect the State's case and:

If the defense wants to call someone like that, I would almost welcome it to have the jury once again

see all of the injuries caused by this defendant and how that even a seizure cannot be a substantial factor in causing this death over and above strangulation and multiple blunt force injuries.

(R. 37:7–8.)

At that same time, the State filed an amended information charging Bennett with first-degree intentional homicide. (R. 37:11–12; 10.) Shortly thereafter, the parties reached a plea agreement. Bennett agreed to plead guilty to first-degree reckless homicide in exchange for a sentencing recommendation by the State of 35 years of initial confinement. (R. 11:1–2; 38:2.) Bennett signed the "Plea Questionnaire/Waiver of Right Form" and checked that he understood that he was waiving his right to have the State prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 11:1.) He also signed the "Addendum to Plea Questionnaire and Waiver of Rights" form that specifically included the additional understanding that he was giving up the right to present defenses. (R. 11:3.)

Bennett was sworn in at the plea hearing. (R. 38:3.) Bennett responded affirmatively when asked whether he was pleading guilty because he was guilty in fact. (R. 38:4, 7–8.) He also responded affirmatively when asked if he understood that he was giving up his right to have the State prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 38:5.) The court asked Bennett if he understood that he was "giving up the right to present certain defenses that might or might not apply in this case including if it applied or could possibly apply an alibi, self-defense, intoxication, insanity, other defenses." (R. 38:10.) Bennett replied that he understood. (R. 38:10.) The parties then stipulated to the facts in the criminal complaint. (R. 38:10.)

Attorney Anderson informed the court that the defense's pathologist submitted findings, which he shared with Bennett. (R. 38:12.) That information was taken into

account in Bennett's decision to plead guilty. (R. 38:12.) The court addressed Bennett and confirmed that he and Attorney Anderson discussed the expert's opinion in deciding to resolve this case by a plea agreement. (R. 38:12–13.)

The court then asked Bennett, for a second time, if he understood that he was giving up the right to argue that a possible defense applied to his actions. (R. 38:14.) The court clarified:

I'm not saying they would. But like you are giving up those defenses. You are also obviously giving up the right at a trial to call this doctor. And I don't know if that testimony would be positive or negative . . . but you are giving up the right to call that doctor as part of a possible jury trial.

(R. 38:14.)

Bennett confirmed that he understood. (R. 38:14.) The court accepted the plea and found Bennett guilty of first-degree reckless homicide. (R. 38:11.)

A presentence investigation was completed. (R. 14.) Bennett admitted to "arguing" with C.S. for two to three hours. (R. 14:9.) He admitted to breaking her phone, pushing her away, grabbing her by the neck, and throwing her onto the bed. (R. 14:9.) Bennett said he then went to his children's room to calm down. (R. 14:9.) It was then that he learned from his daughter that C.S. had the affair in their home. (R. 14:9.) Bennett said he confronted C.S. in their bedroom and smacked her in the head. (R. 14:9.) She fell, hit her head on the dresser, and had a seizure. (R. 14:9.)

Bennett claimed that he shut the bedroom door and left with his children. (R. 14:10.) Bennett said he returned home more than an hour later, checked on C.S., and noticed that she was breathing and had a slight pulse. (R. 14:10.) Her eye was swollen, and he claimed he placed a towel over it. (R. 14:10.) He also said he cleaned up C.S., wiping her

bloody nose, and propping her head up on a pillow so that she could breathe easier. (R. 14:10.)

Bennett claimed he then went to the living room to call a few people because he was feeling "hurt and torn." (R. 14:10.) When he checked on C.S. again, she was dead. (R. 14:10.)

Bennett characterized this violent, physical attack as "normal" and claimed he did not intend for C.S. to die. (R. 14:10.) In Bennett's mind, it was an accident. (R. 14:19.)

The presentence investigation agent noted that Bennett presented as self-centered and unfriendly. (R. 14:19.) The agent was concerned with the "callousness" of Bennett's behaviors and believed him to be "an extremely violent person, and a major threat to the safety of others." (R. 14:20.) The agent recommended 20–40 years of initial confinement followed by 7–10 years of extended supervision. (R. 14:20–21.)

At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor argued that Bennett had "an attitude that he can beat her when he wants; that he can control her when he wants, and on this occasion he beat her to death." (R. 39:9.) The prosecutor went on to add that even in the context of domestic violence, "this one stands out" as a "very violent," close, personal attack. (R. 39:9, 16.) He introduced three photographs of the crime scene that he argued showed that Bennett left C.S. to die a horrible death. (R. 39:9–10.)

The prosecutor also commented on Bennett's account of his crime, characterizing it as "chilling" and without "a realization at how wrongful this type of conduct is." (R. 39:10.) He explained that Bennett had an extensive record of "extraordinary violence" and "domestic abuse." (R. 39:11–14.)

Attorney Anderson argued that Bennett had always accepted that the death of C.S. was not "accidental" and that

Bennett had accepted responsibility for his actions from the beginning. (R. 39:17.) Because Bennett did not intend to kill C.S., Anderson argued that the first-degree reckless homicide charge was appropriate. (R. 39:18.)

Attorney Anderson informed the court that throughout the time he has spent with Bennett, "[h]e's always tearful, his remorse is genuine, he can't believe that his behavior led to her death." (R. 39:17–18.) He said that, "[h]e acknowledge[d] that he's responsible for her death and has accepted that responsibility." (R. 39:18.)

Regarding the evaluation by their expert, Attorney Anderson wanted to and did confirm that either the blunt force trauma or the strangulation could have independently caused C.S.'s death.¹ (R. 39:18.) He went on to explain that Bennett's actions in not seeking medical assistance could be explained by his belief that C.S. was having a seizure. (R. 39:18–19.) While Anderson admitted that Bennett's knowledge of C.S.'s medical conditions "cuts both ways," "[Bennett] had been present at other seizures, and she'd always come out of it." (R. 39:19.) Bennett chose to deal with C.S.'s condition on his own because he did not understand how much distress she was in. (R. 39:19.)

Attorney Anderson repeated that Bennett's remorse was genuine, and told the court that "[Bennett] and I have went around and around about his behavior that night and what should have been done," but Bennett had come to accept full responsibility. (R. 39:19–20.) He asked that the court take that into consideration when evaluating Bennett's

¹ Attorney Anderson says "either" and "neither" within the same sentence. (R. 39:18.) His postconviction affidavit clarified that the defense expert concluded that C.S.'s death "could have been caused by manual strangulation alone, blunt-force injuries alone, or a combination of the two." (R. 72:20.)

character. (R. 38:22–23.) Specifically, he asked that the court take into account that Bennett chose to resolve this case, and that the age of the case should not be viewed as an indicator that Bennett was unwilling to accept responsibility until now. (R. 38:22–23.) Rather, Bennett had always accepted responsibility. (R. 38:23.)

Bennett addressed the court. (R. 39:23–24.) He explained that he had been truthful from the beginning, but it was "just so hard to understand that my behavior caused someone to pass away." (R. 39:24.) Bennett explained that he wanted to speak from the beginning and wanted the court to know the truth. (R. 39:23–24.)

The court described this crime as one of the worst the court had seen. (R. 39:25–26.) Commenting that it "was a violent, vicious, brutal attack" on someone Bennett claimed to love, and the court could not "believe that one human being would do [this] to another human being." (R. 39:25.)

The one mitigating factor that the court found was that Bennett accepted responsibility for his actions. (R. 39:25.) He gave Bennett credit for "pleading guilty and not forcing this case to trial." (R. 39:25.)

The court explained the aggravating factors. First the court commented on severity of the crime. Regarding C.S.'s injuries the court said:

I've had the very unpleasant experience for the last year-and-a-half seeing autopsy photos, photos of children that were beaten to death, photos of adults that were beaten and shot. And these photos of the victim's face, neck area, reflecting the brutal, vicious, frankly, evil attack that she suffered, are among the worst that I had to see in my career and in the last 18 months.

(R. 39:26.)

The court noted that "I don't know if it was 20 minutes or an hour or two hours, but it had to be a significant period of time beating and punching and choking and strangling his victim." (R. 39:26.) The court characterized C.S.'s eye as "smashed in" and swollen shut, and noted multiple "cut marks" to her face. (R. 39:26.) The court then said:

[T]he victim is barely recognizable based on the injuries to her face but particularly the right side of her face and her neck. I'm not a doctor. Obviously, the medical examiner issued the opinion in this case as to the cause of death. But there are many marks on the victim's neck on Exhibit No. 1 and 2 and 3, for that matter, that indicate choking, strangulation possibly fingerprints, handprints in the neck area. This was the most brutal and vicious personal attack that I've seen. I've sentenced people for homicides in shootings and stabbings, with the possible exception of one case, this was the most personal.

(R. 39:27.)

Exhibits 1–3, photographs from the crime scene, show C.S.'s left eye swollen shut. (R. 18:1, 3.) The swelling is severe enough that the eyelid folded in on itself, her eyelashes barely visible. (R. 18:1.) The top portion of her eyelid is black and that bottom portion is red with black spots. (R. 18:1, 3.) There are multiple lacerations or abrasions on her left cheek and multiple blue, purple and yellow bruises under the left side of her chin. (R. 18:1–2.) There are bruises to her left ear and the left side of her nose. (R. 18:1.) The right side of C.S.'s face sustained fewer injuries, but there is a black line under her right eye and an abrasion on her right cheek. (R. 18:1–2.)

The court went on to further explain the gravity of the offense and commented:

The gravity of this offense was certainly raised beyond the personal nature. When I say personal nature, this is not like the many cases I have that, frankly, that occur weekly, if not sometimes daily in this community where someone shoots another person or you have a reckless

homicide where a gun went off and someone is dead. This had to go on for a long period of time with the defendant looking the victim right in the eyes as he struck her, slapped her, punched her, choked her, as she fell to the ground and begged, I'm sure, for him to stop.

. . . .

This was not, not to minimize shootings, which are rampant in this community which go on unabated, but this was a case where the victim was left to die over a number of hours, suffering most likely, agonizing pain for those two or three or four hours that she laid there before she eventually passed away.

. . . .

Someone who could be as vicious and, again, frankly, evil, as Mr. Bennett, to beat a woman who weighs about a 100 pounds to death and leave[] her to die while he smokes cocaine or snorts cocaine, needs to go to prison for a long, long, long time.

(R. 39:31–33.)

Based on Bennett's prior record and past acts, the court concluded that Bennett was a serial abuser who would abuse again. (R. 39:33–34.) The court further commented:

I don't . . . want to lose track in terms of the gravity of the offense and the fact that this was a young lady who was deprived of 30 or 40 years of life, her family is deprived of her company, her brother, her parents, other relatives. This is a tragic and completely, unnecessary, completely, unwarranted beating, which resulted in a tragic loss of life.

(R. 39:38.)

The court sentenced Bennett to 35 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (R. 39:39.)

Bennett's first postconviction counsel was Attorney Randall Paulson. (R. 43:1.) He filed a no merit report. (R. 43:1; 44:1.) Bennett filed a response alleging that he would not have pled guilty if Attorney Anderson would have fully informed him of the findings by the defense expert, and asked this Court to require Paulson to obtain that report. (R. 43:1–2; 44:1–2.) Paulson followed up with Anderson and discovered that a report was never produced, and that Anderson had informed Bennett that no report would be produced because of Bennett's decision to plead guilty. (R. 43:2.) Bennett filed a reply asserting that he was not fully informed of the expert's finding and, had he been, he would have chosen to go to trial and requested that the jury be instructed on a lesser included offense. (R. 44:2.) He also asserted he would have "testified on the stand before the jury arguing that I was not guilty of the charge of 1st-degree reckless homicide, but rather a lesser charge." (R. 44:2.) This Court ordered Paulson to obtain an affidavit from Anderson and to evaluate whether the facts would support a conviction on a lesser-included charge. (R. 44:3.)

A couple of weeks after that order, Attorney Gary Grass wrote to this Court advising the court that he had agreed to represent Bennett and asked that the court "hold the pending no merit petition in abeyance, as it is likely to be withdrawn." (R. 45:2.) The Court ultimately granted substitution of counsel and dismissed the no-merit appeal without prejudice. (R. 41:2.)

Attorney Grass filed numerous extension motions and finally filed a postconviction motion a little over a year after this Court remitted the case to the circuit court. (R. 42; 47–61.) Bennett's postconviction claims included a claim for postconviction discovery premised on the allegation "that there [was] a substantial likelihood that the victim suffered from a pre-exiting weakening of the bridging vessels that were shorn to produce the intracranial bleeding that killed

her." (R. 60:2.) He asserted that he obtained some support for this allegation from Waukesha County Medical Examiner Linda Biedzrycki, but did not include an affidavit or report of her findings. (R. 60:5.)

Bennett believed that evidence of such a pre-existing condition would have been relevant to his decision to plead guilty and relevant to the court's exercise of sentencing discretion. (R. 60:2.) As such, he asked for postconviction discovery, arguing that he should be "allowed to discover the previous medical records of the victim and be provided [with] funds for an expert to evaluate those records and other medical reports in this case, to determine whether a pre-existing condition" existed. (R. 60:2.)

Bennett also asked for postconviction discovery of C.S.'s juvenile records and her sealed presentence investigation records, arguing that such information "would bear on his claims in his postconviction motion." (R. 60:2.) Bennett was looking for information to support his claim that C.S. was aggressive. (R. 60:3.)

Bennett also claimed that 1) he was falsely led to believe that he had no meaningful defense, 2) his counsel was ineffective for failing to accurately advise him of his chances at trial, 2 3) that a new factor existed for sentence modification, and 4) counsel was ineffective at sentencing. 3 (R. 61:1–2.)

² In this section, Bennett also raised a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to share actuarial data with Bennett regarding Bennett's life expectancy. (R. 61:7–8.) That claim is abandoned on appeal and will not be addressed. *See State v. Young*, 2009 WI App 22, ¶ 15 n.6, 316 Wis. 2d 114, 762 N.W.2d 736.

³ This claim was also abandoned on appeal.

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